S2	4	9	5	9	3
	•	\sim	\sim	\sim	\sim

Supreme	Court	Case	Nο	
Supreme	Court	Case	INO.	

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

KERRIE REILLY Petitioner and Appellant,

v.

MARIN HOUSING AUTHORITY Respondent.

After a Decision of the Court of Appeal for the First Appellate District, Division Two, No. A149918

Affirming a Judgment of the Superior Court of Marin County Case No. CIV 1503896, Honorable Paul M. Haakenson, Judge

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Deborah Gettleman, SBN 267309
Ben Conway, SBN 246410
Disability Rights California
1330 Broadway, Suite 500
Oakland, CA 94612
(510) 267-1200
(510) 267-1201 Fax
Attorneys for Petitioner and Appellant Kerrie Reilly

ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Local housing authorities calculate rent for people living in HUD subsidized housing based on their income. 24 C.F.R. § 5.609(c)(16) prohibits counting as income "[a]mounts paid by a State agency to a family with a member who has a developmental disability and is living at home to offset the cost of services and equipment needed to keep the developmentally disabled family member at home." California's In-Home Supportive Services program pays family members for services they provide to keep people with developmental disabilities in their homes. Are these payments excluded as income pursuant to Section 5.609(c)(16)?

Introduction

Housing authorities throughout California provide rental subsidies for over 300,000 families through the federal housing choice voucher program commonly called "Section 8." Housing authorities determine eligibility and calculate rent for Section 8 program participants using income counting rules promulgated by the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development ("HUD"). 24 C.F.R. § 982.1(a). Many types of payments are excluded from these income calculations. 24 C.F.R. § 5.609(c). One subsection exempts from income calculations payments by a state agency to offset the costs to families associated with caring for members with a developmental disability. 24 C.F.R. § 5.609(c)(16). This regulation is referred to throughout this petition as the developmental disability income exemption ("DD income exemption").

Petitioner Kerrie Reilly lives in an apartment with rent subsidized by a Section 8 Housing Choice voucher. She lives with her adult daughter, who has a

¹ Center on Budget and Policy Priorities, *California Fact Sheet: Federal Rental Assistance* (March 30, 2017), https://www.cbpp.org/sites/default/files/atoms/files/4-13-11hous-CA.pdf.

severe developmental disability. She provides attendant care 24 hours per day to keep her daughter at home, and receives payments from the California In-Home Supportive Services program that partially offset the cost of this care. *Reilly v. Marin Hous. Auth.*, A149918, Slip Opinion ("slip op.") at 1, 5 (Cal. Ct. App. April 25, 2018).

The purpose of the In-Home Supportive Services program is to provide homecare services to enable people with disabilities like Ms. Reilly's daughter to remain safely in their homes. Cal. Welf. & Inst. Code § 12300(a). The state program pays family members or third parties directly to provide this care. Many California families are able to keep loved ones with developmental disabilities with them at home and out of institutions through attendant care funded by In-Home Supportive Services.²

Petitioner brought the underlying writ to compel her housing authority to exempt the payments that she receives from In-Home Supportive Services from her income when calculating her rent under Section 5.609(c)(16). Despite the congruency between the language of the DD income exemption and the purpose of the In-Home Supportive Services program, the Court of Appeal concluded that these payments were not exempt when calculating income for Section 8 rent purposes. Slip op. at 1, 14.

If the published decision below is allowed to stand, it will harm not just Petitioner's family, but thousands of similarly situated families throughout California. As discussed more fully below, tens of thousands of tenants who rely on Section 8 housing vouchers from more than 100 housing authorities will be affected. Tens of thousands of additional HUD and state subsidized housing

² Public Policy Institute of California, *California's In-Home Support Program*, (November 2015), http://www.ppic.org/publication/californias-in-home-support-program/.

complexes also use the HUD income counting rules, including the DD income exemption at issue here. Many currently exclude In-Home Supportive Services payments for families caring for members with developmental disabilities, so the Court of Appeal decision will create uncertainty for those entities. Those families whose In-Home Supportive Services payments have already been excluded will face drastic increases in their rent, which could lead to eviction and homelessness. Alternatively, some families, facing significantly more challenges to care for their loved ones at home, may give up their efforts and consign them to a nursing facility or other institution. The enormous impact this decision will have on poor families caring for developmentally disabled family members justifies granting review.

In addition, the Court of Appeal interpreted the DD income exemption so narrowly as to render it meaningless. The only situation in which the Court of Appeal conceded that the regulation was applicable was to exempt In-Home Supportive Services payments to a family member that were used to hire a third party caregiver so the family member could work outside the home. Slip op. at 13. However, such a situation would rarely if ever occur because the In-Home Supportive Services program pays almost all caregivers directly. In addition, the decision ignores the difficulty with finding appropriate third party care and the reality that families are often uniquely equipped to care for their members with severe disabilities.³ The lower court's conclusion is inconsistent with the language of the regulation and would defeat the purpose of the program, jeopardizing the

³ See, e.g., 42 U.S.C.A. § 15001(a)(9)-(10) (findings in Developmental Disabilities Act of 1990); See also Statewide CDSS In-Home Supportive Services (IHSS) 2012 Consumer Survey, p. 19 (November 2012), http://www.cdss.ca.gov/agedblinddisabled/res/2012IHSSConsumerSurvey(2-1-13).pdf (reporting that difficulty in finding care providers was an important theme to emerge from the statewide survey).

housing stability of the very people with developmental disabilities whom the rule was meant to protect.

The Court of Appeal based its opinion and interpretation of the DD income exemption on the idea that it would be unfair and inequitable for parents caring for children with developmental disabilities to exempt the payments they receive for that care, when parents of children with other disabilities may not. Slip op. at 13-14. The crux of the lower court's analysis is that the plain language of the regulation indicating a clear and articulated benefit specifically for families caring for developmentally disabled members, must be wrong. *Id.* In adopting this position, the Court not only ignores regulatory language but also the history and treatment of people with developmental disabilities and their unique risk for institutionalization. 42 U.S.C. §15001(a)(5).

The DD income exemption provides a unique benefit to a subclass of people who have long lived without it. To that end, it should be assumed that the drafters of the DD income exemption knew what they were saying when they limited the homecare exemption to tenants with developmental disabilities, and meant what they said. This interpretation of the regulation is strengthened by numerous state and federal legislative efforts specifically enacted to serve people with developmental disabilities in their communities. Included in these efforts are the many HUD funded properties throughout California specifically designed to meet the unique needs of people with developmental disabilities.

Finally, income exemptions for homecare payments are not unusual. The Internal Revenue Service ("IRS") excludes In-Home Supportive Services homecare payments for live-in care providers from gross income under Section

131 of the Internal Revenue Code, 24 U.S.C. §131(c).⁴ Like the DD income exemption and the In-Home Supportive Services program itself, the IRS income exclusion is meant to encourage utilization of homecare services to enable people with disabilities to live safely at home and avoid institutionalization.

If left to stand, the decision of the Court of Appeal on the interpretation of 24 C.F.R § 5.609(c)(16)— the DD income exemption—will adversely impact thousands of low-income Californians with disabilities and their families who live in subsidized housing and rely on In-Home Supportive Services to remain safely at home. This Court should grant review to settle this important question of law.

FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

As the Court of Appeal explained, Petitioner and Appellant Kerrie Reilly "lives with her severely disabled adult daughter in housing subsidized by the Marin Housing Authority." Slip op. at 1. Ms. Reilly's apartment is subsidized with a Section 8 voucher. In the Section 8 program, low-income participants pay 30% of their adjusted income for rent while the housing authority pays the remainder. 24 C.F.R. § 982.1(a). A tenant's adjusted income is calculated using HUD income counting rules, which include the DD income exemption among others.

⁴ Notice 2014-7, 2014-4 I.R.B. 445 (January 3, 2014), https://www.irs.gov/irb/2014-4_IRB#NOT-2014-7.

⁵ U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development, Office of Policy Development and Research, *A Picture of Disability and Designated Housing*, p. 10, Table 3 (March 6, 2015) (reflecting over 20,000 people with disabilities that cause cognitive disabilities or deficits in independent living in HUD subsidized housing throughout the United States),

https://www.huduser.gov/portal/sites/default/files/pdf/mdrt_disability_designated housing.pdf.

⁶ See also U.S. Dept. of Housing and Urban Development, *Housing Choice Vouchers Fact Sheet*,

https://www.hud.gov/topics/housing_choice_voucher_program_section_8 (last visited June 24, 2018).

Ms. Reilly's daughter has a "severe developmental disability, such that she requires constant supervision." Slip op. at 1. Ms. Reilly's daughter qualifies for attendant care services through California In-Home Supportive Services (*id.*), which approves recipients for Protective Supervision when they require 24-hour care. *Id.* at 5. Despite the round-the-clock need of recipients of Protective Supervision, the lower court acknowledged that In-Home Supportive Services provides reimbursement for a maximum of only 65 hours per week in attendant care, or roughly 9.3 hours per day. *Id. See also*, Cal. Welf. & Inst. Code § 12303.4 (maximum number of hours a provider can receive for someone requiring "Protective Supervision" is 283 hours per month). To qualify for Protective Supervision, a recipient must have a primary caregiver, usually a parent or family member such as Ms. Reilly, who will sign a form promising to provide a "continuous 24-hour-a-day coverage plan" that must "be met regardless of paid In-Home Supportive Service (IHSS) hours."

Ms. Reilly has paid a high personal cost to keep her daughter out of an institution: she herself provides the 24-hour care and monitoring required to keep her daughter safely at home. Slip op. at 1. She has sacrificed other interests and pursuits and dedicates her own labor to caring for her adult child rather than place her in an institution. As noted above, the payments that Ms. Reilly receives from In-Home Supportive Services offset only about nine hours per day of her daughter's care, leaving the remaining hours uncompensated.

The Marin Housing Authority did not exempt the payments that Ms.

Reilly receives from In-Home Supportive Services to care for her daughter in

⁷ See California Department of Social Services, Form SOC 825, http://www.cdss.ca.gov/cdssweb/entres/forms/English/soc825.pdf (last visited June 24, 2018). The form also requires the caregiver to acknowledge that a social worker has discussed the "appropriateness of out-of-home care as an alternative to 24-hour-a-day Protective Supervision."

calculating her income. Slip op. at 3. In 2015, Ms. Reilly filed a writ for administrative mandate and complaint for injunctive and declaratory relief requesting in relevant part that the Housing Authority exclude her In-Home Supportive Services payments from the calculation of her Section 8 rent pursuant to the DD income exemption. *Id*.

The Superior Court sustained Marin Housing Authority's demurrer to the petition and the Court of Appeal affirmed. *Id.* Both courts found that, as a matter of law, the DD income exemption does not exempt state payments for In-Home Supportive Services to keep a family member with a developmental disability in the home. *Id.* at 2, 3.

Ms. Reilly did not request a rehearing from the Court of Appeal. *See* Cal. R. Ct. 8.504(b)(3).

REASONS FOR GRANTING REVIEW

I. The decision below will affect thousands of low-income tenants in subsidized housing programs that use the HUD income counting rules.

Throughout California, housing authorities and subsidized housing projects use the HUD income counting rules to calculate rent for hundreds of thousands of tenants. These rules incorporate the DD income exemption at issue here. Unlike Respondent Marin Housing Authority, many subsidized housing providers currently exclude In-Home Supportive Services payments on behalf of family members with developmental disabilities. The Court of Appeal's decision will create chaos and confusion for these tenants and for the housing authorities and subsidized projects that must apply a regulation that is now shadowed by uncertainty.

The broad impact of the lower court's decision cannot be disputed. According to a 2011 report by the Center for Budget Policy and Priorities, California has more than 303,200 low-income tenants who receive Section 8 housing choice vouchers.⁸ These are administered by 104 housing authorities throughout California.⁹ HUD estimates that 20,000 people with developmental disabilities live in subsidized housing nationwide.¹⁰ Since California represents 12% of the U.S. population, this HUD estimate means that at least 2,500 individuals with developmental disabilities are in HUD subsidized housing in California.

Regarding California's In-Home Supportive Services program, more than 460,000 low-income people with disabilities qualify for this program. ¹¹ Of these, an estimated 9%, or 42,000 people, have developmental disabilities. ¹² For approximately 35% of the total caseload, or 163,000 people, the In-Home Supportive Services provider is a family member who lives in the same house as the recipient. ¹³ By any measure, a significant number of people in California are affected by the In-Home Supportive Services and its interaction with HUD's rent calculation rules.

Many housing authorities already exclude In-Home Supportive Services

⁸ See footnote 1, supra, California Fact Sheet: Federal Rental Assistance.

⁹ U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development, *Public Housing Authority* (*PHA*) Contact Information,

https://www.hud.gov/program_offices/public_indian_housing/pha/contacts/ca.

¹⁰ See U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development, A Picture of Disability and Designated Housing, p. 10, Table 3 (March 6, 2015) https://www.huduser.gov/portal/sites/default/files/pdf/mdrt_disability_designated_housing.pdf.

¹¹ The average monthly number of recipients is estimated to be 467,000 in the 2015-2016 budget year. Public Policy Institute of California, *California's In-Home Support Program*, footnote 2, *supra*.

¹² California Legislative Analyst Office (LAO), *Considering the State Costs and Benefits: In-Home Supportive Services Program*, page 10 (January 21, 2010) http://www.lao.ca.gov/reports/2010/ssrv/ihss/ihss_012110.pdf.

¹³ *Id.*

payments pursuant to the DD income exemption. ¹⁴ One such housing authority is Contra Costa Housing Authority in the Bay Area. In calculating adjusted income for a family receiving payments from In-Home Supportive Services, Contra Costa first verifies that the family member is a person with a developmental disability pursuant to the definition of "developmentally disabled" as set forth in the federal Developmental Disabilities Act. ¹⁵ Once developmental disability is verified, Contra Costa automatically excludes In-Home Supportive Services payments from the rent calculation. ¹⁶ Because Contra Costa is among the ten most populous counties in California, ¹⁷ a significant number of tenants are affected by this Housing Authority's interpretation of the DD income exemption.

In addition, many other subsidized housing projects also use the HUD income counting rules, including the DD income exemption in Section 5.609(c)(16). This includes housing complexes funded directly with HUD dollars as well as housing subsidized by the United States Department of Agriculture and Rural Development. Also, the California Tax Credit Allocation

¹⁴ *Amici* will provide additional information on this point in forthcoming letters of support.

¹⁵ See, Contra Costa Housing Authority Verification Form, attached as Exhibit 1 pursuant to Cal. R. Ct. 8.504(e)(1)(C).

¹⁶ Id.

¹⁷ County of Contra Costa, *Recommended Budget*, *Fiscal Year 2018-2019* (April 1, 2018), p. 6, http://www.co.contra-costa.ca.us/DocumentCenter/View/49439/FY-2018-19-Recommended-Budget-for-web?bidId.

¹⁸ 24 C.F.R. § 5.6091(a) (articulating that the HUD income guidelines apply to Section 8 vouchers in addition to Project Based Section 8 and Public Housing). ¹⁹ 7 C.F.R. § 3555.152(b)(5)(x) which adopts the DD income exemption language, excluding from income "[a]mounts paid by a State agency to a family with a developmentally disabled family member living at home to offset the cost of services and equipment needed to keep the developmentally disabled family member at home."

Committee lists well over 4,000 tax credit subsidized complexes in California.²⁰ The Tax Credit Allocation Committee's compliance section requires that for tax credit subsidized properties, "determination of annual income of individuals and area median gross income adjusted for household size must be made in a manner consistent with HUD Section 8 income definitions and guidelines."²¹ The longstanding position of the Committee's compliance division, as expressed in trainings to housing providers, has been to exclude payments from In-Home Supportive Services to households with family members with developmental disabilities when calculating their income.

Review of the appellate court's decision is appropriate and necessary, given the vast number of Californians who will be impacted. This new interpretation of Section 5.609(c)(16) will upend the protections afforded to thousands of tenants with Section 8 vouchers and in other subsidized rental housing. Including homecare payments from In-Home Supportive Services in income calculations will make many previously eligible families ineligible for low-income housing and could double or triple the rent of those currently housed, possibly resulting in the termination of their subsidized housing entirely. Review should be granted.

- II. The Court of Appeal's decision nullifies the DD income exemption and will cause exactly the harm that the regulation should prevent.
 - A. The decision below ignored the plain language of the regulation, making it a nullity.

The DD income exemption—24 C.F.R. § 5.609(c)(16)— excludes:

²⁰ California Tax Credit Allocation Committee, *Project Mapping*, List of Projects, https://www.treasurer.ca.gov/ctcac/projects.asp (last visited June 13, 2018).

10

https://www.treasurer.ca.gov/ctcac/compliance/manual/manual.pdf.

²¹ California Tax Credit Allocation Committee, *Compliance Online Reference Manual*, part 4.3, p. 40 (January 2017),

"Amounts paid by a State agency to a family with a member who has a developmental disability and is living at home to offset the cost of services and equipment needed to keep the developmentally disabled family member at home." By its plain language, the regulation addresses only homecare payments for an individual with a developmental disability.

The Court of Appeal analyzed this language, and after considering both the language itself and the regulatory history, concluded that questions still remained. Slip op. at 12. The Court then "compar[ed] the results of the two proposed constructions." *Id.* The Court chose the interpretation advanced by the Marin Housing Authority in large part "because it achieves a measure of parity between a family with a developmentally disabled family member and a family with a member disabled by severe medical problems. . . .[This will] eliminate a disparity between the families of those with a developmentally disabled family member and families with a member disabled by medical problems." Slip op. at 13-14. The Court continued:

By contrast, Reilly's construction of the regulation gives people in Reilly's position a benefit that comparable families do not receive. ... By virtue of her daughter's disabilities being developmental rather than physical, Reilly's construction would allow her to exclude [In-Home Supportive Services] payments for parental care-giving, which a parent receiving [In-Home Supportive Services] payments for a child disabled by medical problems would not.

Slip op. at 14.

In its concern for "equity" and "parity," the Court of Appeal overrode the language of the regulation itself. The Court ignored that the plain language of the

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