#### CASE No. S249593

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

#### KERRIE REILLY

Petitioner and Appellant,

v.

#### MARIN HOUSING AUTHORITY

Respondent and Respondent.

## DEFENDANT MARIN HOUSING AUTHORITY'S ANSWER TO THE PETITION FOR REVIEW

After the Decision of the Court of Appeal for the First Appellate District Division Two, No. 149918

Affirming the Judgment of the Superior Court for the State of California, County of Marin, Case No. CIV 1503896, Hon. Paul M. Haakenson

Marin Housing Authority Ilya Filmus, Esq. 4020 Civic Center Drive San Rafael, CA 94903

Tel: (415) 491-2525 Fax: (415) 472-2186

E-Mail: ilya.filmus@gmail.com

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

## THE UNANIMOUS DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEAL REACHED THE CORRECT RESULT

It is settled law in this jurisdiction that sums paid to a family member to care of a disabled family member constitutes income. (Norasingh v. Lightbourne (2014) 229 Cal.App.4th 740, 744) In fact, the existence of an employment relationship and the characterization of IHSS payments as wages, regardless of whether provided to a family member or non-family member, is universally accepted. (See e.g., Norasingh 229 Cal.App.4th at 744 (IHSS "compensates persons who provide the services to a qualifying individual".); Guerrero v. Sup. Ct (Weber) (2013) 213 Cal. App.4th 912 (recognizing complicated yet flexible rubric of employment arrangements sanctioned by the IHSS program.); *In-Home* Supportive Services v. WCAB (1984) 152 Cal. App. 3d 720, 732-34 (dual employee relationship exists between IHSS provider and the state and county); Basden v. Wagner (2010) 181 Cal. App. 4th 929 (IHSS is an "employer" for purposes of the state public employee-employer relation laws, such as unemployment compensation and workers' compensation). Thus, there is no need to further litigate the issue of whether IHSS wages constitute income. In fact, as petitioner has acknowledged, the IRS taxed these payments as ordinary income for many years.

HUD has promulgated detailed regulations, adopted by way of notice-and-comment rulemaking, which provide guidance to local housing authorities when calculating income eligibility and each participant's subsidy under Section 8.

24 C.F.R. § 5.609(b)(1) defines the household's annual income as "[t]he full amount, before any payroll deductions, of wages and salaries...and other compensation for personal services," (§ 5.609 (b)(1).)

The regulation at issue, 24 C.F.R. section 5.609(c)(16), excludes from income calculations:

Amounts paid by a State agency to a family with a member who has a developmental disability and is living at home *to offset the cost of services* and equipment needed to keep the developmentally disabled family member at home;

#### (24 C.F.R. § 5.609(c)(16) (emphasis added.).)

The court of appeal correctly read the established case law and regulation at issue together to conclude that petitioner's income derived from IHSS wages was not an offset of costs of services, reasoning the "cost of services and equipment needed to keep the developmentally disabled family member at home" must refer to amounts of money that the Reilly family pays." (slip op., at 11.) The court performed a thorough analysis of the meaning of the word "cost" as used elsewhere in 24 C.F.R. § 5.609, explaining that "the word "cost" has to be understood in its most common and concrete sense, as referring to an amount charged or paid" and concluded that this meaning applied to subsection (c)(16). (slip op., at 10-11.)

As the court of appeal acknowledged, a very similar issue was addressed in a 2009 unpublished opinion out of the Fifth Circuit in Texas, *Anthony v. Poteet Housing Authority* (5th Cir. 2009) 306 Fed.Appx. 98. There, the petitioner was paid under a similar program to provide in-home care for her son who was physically disabled. The court concluded that the under the plain meaning of the regulation, one must first incur an expense in order for the amount to be considered a "cost" and reached the conclusion that sums paid to Anthony to care for her son were income and did not qualify for an exemption under section (c)(16).

Anthony was decided nearly a decade ago and provides persuasive authority. Since that time, no other court has been asked to interpret 24

C.F.R. § 5.609(c)(16) until the instant litigation. Here, the court of appeal correctly construed the regulation to mean that petitioner's wages do not qualify as an "income exemption" because these wages are income and not costs to the household.

As the court of appeal noted, petitioner's interpretation would afford families caring for family members with developmental disabilities with more favorable treatment than other families who are caring for the mentally ill and physically disabled family members, leading to an inequitable result. This disparity would be inherently problematic as noted by the court of appeal. (slip op., 14.) The construct that persons with developmental disabilities are more worthy than those with other sorts of disabilities and should receive preferential treatment also runs counter to HUD's policy to treat all classes of disabled persons with parity and is in conflict the regulations cited in the petition for review. (*See e.g.*, 7 C.F.R. § 3555.152(b)(5)(x). (See, Petition for Review, p. 9, at footnote 19.)

The court of appeal reached the correct conclusion and provides certainty. Accordingly, this court should deny the petition for review.

V.

# PETITIONER FAILS TO ESTABLISH GROUNDS TO REVIEW THE DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEAL

#### A. An Appeal To The Supreme Court Is Not A Matter Of Right

It is not the province of the supreme court to determine whether facts were accurately stated and considered in the opinion of a court of appeal. (*People v. Davis* (1905) 147 Cal. 346, 349-350.) In fact, the court self-imposed "rather strict limits upon its exercise" and will without exception decline to evaluate a decision of a court of appeal in regard to the facts shown to exist by the record. (*Id.* at 350.)

The court has instead accepted other responsibilities. These responsibilities do not include making an independent fact finding as

petitioner urges here. The court may not look beyond the record for any facts. Thus, petitioner's urging that this court consider other housing authorities' interpretation of the regulation at issue is seeking the court to forage beyond the legitimate boundaries of judicial review. To that end, responding party objects to petitioner's attempt to introduce Exhibit 1. Contrary to petitioner's characterization, this Contra Costa County Housing Authority form is not a regulation and therefore should not be considered by this court. (Rules of Court, Rule 8.504(e)(1)(C). Even if a review of the factual record was appropriate by this court, this document is nothing more than hearsay, not presented to the trial court or the court of appeal, and lacks sufficient foundation to establish that it accurately incorporates any regulation, let alone the regulation at issue.

Moreover, the contention that there could be persons adversely affected by this decision is speculative and does not support a grant of review as there has been no litigation that would develop the record pertaining to the interests of other Marin County participants or participants in other housing authorities. (*See*, *Linder v. Thrifty Oil Co.* (2000) 23 Cal.4th 429, as modified (Aug. 9, 2000).) Because these persons are not parties to this litigation and because these facts have not been developed, these issues are waived. (*See id.*)

Similarly, petitioner's attempt to seek the court to conduct an evidentiary hearing regarding the practices of other housing authorities is improper. Not only is it not the function of this court, discretionary decisions made by other housing authorities do not control discretionary decisions made by respondent. Moreover, decisions made by other housing authorities are not citable authority and are irrelevant. In addition, petitioner argues an overly simplistic view that disregards the discretion provided to housing authorities to balance a number of factors with the goal of keeping compliant recipients in housing. Equally important, this issue

was not raised to the court of appeal and is therefore waived. (*Guz v. Bechtel Nat. Inc.* (2000) 24 Cal.4th 317, 348.)

Moreover, this case has nothing to do with disability discrimination. Nowhere was this issue raised to the trial court or to the court of appeal. Petitioner may not now raise the issue here. (*See, Flannery v. Prentice* (2001) 26 Cal.4th 572, 590–591 (not raised in the court of appeal.) Similarly, issues surrounding the housing crisis in the San Francisco Bay Area, also raised for the first time in the petition, are irrelevant to the issue before the court, have been waived and should be disregarded.

Finally, petitioner's argument that because the IRS 2014 ruling regarding IHSS income is also waived as it was not raised to the court of appeal. That said, there is no support to the argument that the U.S. Treasury's policy decision to not tax income derived from IHSS means that the payments are not income. The converse is true; IRS would not have considered the issue of whether IHSS payments should be excluded from gross income if these payments were not income in the first instance, and in fact, had been considered to be taxable income for many years prior to the 2014 publication which petitioner now seeks to place before the court. Further, IRS policy is irrelevant in that the policy considerations underlying IRS regulations do not control HUD functions.

#### B. Harmony and Uniformity Are Not At Risk

An important function of the supreme court is "to secure harmony and uniformity in the [courts of appeals'] decisions, their conformity to the settled rules and principles of law, a uniform rule of decision throughout the state, a correct and uniform construction of the Constitution, statutes, and charters, and in some instances a final decision by the court of last resort of some doubtful or disputed question of law." (*Guz, supra, 24* Cal.4th at 348.) Review is proper only where an important issue has percolated in the courts of appeal, something which has not occurred here.

In addition, since there is no other citable authority construing the regulation at issue, there is no lack of uniformity of decision requiring the this court to weigh in for the purpose of providing clarity. (*Cf, Fisher v. City of Berkeley* (1984) 37 Cal.3d 644, 653–654, *aff'd sub nom. Fisher v. City of Berkeley, Cal.* (1986) 475 U.S. 260, 106 S.Ct. 1045, 89 L.Ed.2d 206.) There is no controversy here requiring this court's resolution.

#### C. The Question of Law At Issue Is Better Left to HUD

While the court may grant review to settle an important, unsettled question of law, the lack of case authority on the meaning of the regulation at issue, which was enacted more than twenty years ago, belies any contention that petitioner has presented an important question of law that warrants attention at this level. In fact, the First District's decision is one of first impression in California. The decision provides clarity and removes uncertainty concerning the meaning of the regulation.

Even if the court were to view the meaning of 24 C.F.R. § 5.609(c)(16) to be an important question of law, this court should defer to HUD's administrative rule review process and resist petitioner's request to make what is essentially a policy decision better left for HUD. As petitioner demonstrated to the court of appeal, the regulation at issue was adopted by way of notice-and-comment rulemaking. (slip op., 11-12.) Specifically, the Notice of Proposed Rulemaking ("NPRM") was published in the Federal Register, which was followed by a significant comment period. Established more than fifty years ago, HUD has developed special expertise in the administration of programs which provide housing subsidies to enable persons in unfortunate circumstances, whether these are related to developmental disabilities or physical disabilities, to obtain safe, decent and affordable housing. It has developed comprehensive regulations over the years by way of noticed rule making procedures, including the regulation at issue which was adopted in the mid-1990s. The interpretation

of one of these regulations is now before the court under circumstances which require HUD to receive great deference. (*See*, *Chevron USA*, *Inc. v. Natural Resources Defense Council*, *Inc.* (1984) 467 U. S. 837.) In *Chevron*, Justice Stevens wrote, "We have long recognized that considerable weight should be accorded to an executive department's construction of a statutory scheme it is entrusted to administer." (*Id.*, see also, *Robinson v. District of Columbia Housing Authority* (D.D.C. 2009) 660 F.Supp.2d 6.

Moreover, because the notice-and-comment process facilitates public participation, rules with an NPRM should receive greater deference. (*U.S. v. Mead Corp.* (2001) 533 U.S. 218.) What petitioner seeks here is for this court to superimpose its judgment upon HUD's rule making authority and the wisdom behind the rules enacted the agency. Instead, this court should exercise judicial restraint in the form deference, particularly here where APA notice-and-comment assured "due deliberation." (*Id.*)

In sum, petitioner has failed to establish grounds for this court to review the decision of the court of appeal.

#### VI.

# PETITIONER HAS NOT SHOWN THAT A REASONABLE POSSIBILITY THAT THE DEFECTS IN HER PETITION FOR WRIT OF MANDATE COULD BE CURED

The court of appeal is correct in its analysis and statement of law. As is apparent, petitioner has not carried her burden of proving that a reasonable possibility exists that the defects can be cured by amendment. (See, Blank v. Kirwan (1985) 39 Cal.3d 311, 319.) In fact, petitioner does not make that argument. Instead, petitioner asks this court to either speculate or conduct an evidentiary inquiry into whether the income of persons similarly and dissimilarly situated to her, have been excluded from income calculations by other housing authorities, to determine whether they

will be harmed as a result of the Court of Appeal decision. Petitioner has never pled and does not demonstrate that she has standing to advocate for these persons. Moreover, this speculative argument was not presented to the appellate court and therefore is not properly before this court. It also seeks an independent inquiry from this court which is not the court's function.

Similarly lacking is the claim that a conflict of law exists between the various housing authorities in this state. However, an individual housing authority's interpretation of a federal regulation does not rise to create a conflict of law as none of these interpretations has precedential value and none control the policy decisions made by respondent. As stated above, it is not the function of this court to engage in a factual inquiry as to the manner in which other housing authorities interpret 24 C.F.R. § 5.609 (c)(16). Moreover, this point has been waived by failing to raise the argument below. That said, if remanded, the court of appeal would be charged with conducting a fact finding where there has been no record developed at the trial court level. Just as here, that is not the proper function of the court of appeal.

Petitioner suggests that HUD regulations show preferential treatment for families of developmentally disabled person. Yet the regulation on which she relies, 24 C.F.R. § 811, *et seq.* provides housing complexes with supportive services for low income persons with "Physical Disabilities, Developmental Disabilities, and Chronic Mental Illness" with parity. (Petition for Review, p. 20, citing 24 C.F.R. § 891.305.) This scarcely makes the point the families of developmentally disabled persons are entitled to better treatment than other classes of disabled persons.

Again, petitioner has not shown that a reasonable possibility exist that defects in her petition for writ of mandate can be cured by amendment.

#### VII.

# NO PREJUDICE WILL RESULT IF THE COURT OF APPEAL'S DECISION REMAINS CITABLE AND AS THE ONLY OPINION ON THE ISSUE, IT WILL PROVIDE HELPFUL GUIDANCE.

Under Cal. Rules of Court, 8.1115, the court of appeal's decision remains published and citable while review is pending if for only for the purpose of "potentially persuasive value." (Cal. Rules of Court, Rule 8.1115.) There is no other citable authority in this jurisdiction on the meaning and application of 24 C.F.R. section 5.609(c)(16), and as a result, the reasoning in the opinion will provide helpful guidance to trial courts during the pendency of the review. Particularly helpful, given the arguments set forth by petition, is the court's guidance that families caring for physically disabled persons should be accorded the same treatment as those caring for developmentally disabled persons. Accordingly, responding party requests that this court not issue an order depublishing the court of appeal's decision until it has made a final determination.

#### VIII.

#### **CONCLUSION**

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